2002

Victor Price v. Utah Power and Light Company, a Utah corporation, and David Zserai : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Did the plaintiff, who called no doctor to testify, present adequate evidence to make a prima facie case of medical causation between an 8-10 second mule ride and the nerve entrapments in his neck and elbow, and did the trial court abuse its discretion in failing to grant a new trial on this issue?

2. Did the trial court commit prejudicial error in refusing to question jury panel members about possible prejudice against Utah Power from layoffs and unemployment in the coal mining industry and in refusing to grant a new trial on this issue, and did such errors violate Utah Power's constitutional right to due process in a civil jury trial?

DETERMINATIVE PROVISIONS

1. Rule 59(a) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure:

(a) Grounds. Subject to the provisions of Rule 61, a new trial may be granted to all or any of the parties and on all or part of the issues, for any of the following causes; provided, however, that on a motion for a new trial in an action tried without a jury, the court may open the judgment if one has been entered, take additional testimony, amend findings of fact and conclusions of law or make new findings and conclusions, and direct the entry of a new judgment:

(1) Irregularity in the proceedings of the court, jury or adverse party, or any order of the court, or abuse of discretion by which either party was prevented from having a fair trial.

(2) Misconduct of the jury; and whenever any one or more of the jurors have been induced to assent to any general or special verdict, or to a finding on any question submitted to them by the court, by resort to a determination by chance or as a result of bribery, such misconduct may be proved by the affidavit of any one of the jurors.

(3) Accident or surprise, which ordinary prudence could not have guarded against.

(4) Newly discovered evidence, material for the party making the application, which he could not, with reasonable diligence, have discovered and produced at the trial.

(5) Excessive or inadequate damages, appearing to have been given under the influence of passion or prejudice.

(6) Insufficiency of the evidence to justify the verdict or other decision, or that it is against law.

(7) Error in law.

2. Rule 47(a) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure:

(a) Examination of Jurors. The court may permit the parties or their attorneys to conduct the examination of prospective jurors or may itself conduct the examination. In the latter event, the court shall permit the parties or their attorneys to supplement the examination by such further inquiry as is material and proper or shall itself submit to the prospective jurors such additional questions of the parties or their attorneys as is material and proper.

3. Utah Constitution, Article I, Section 7:

No person shall be deprived of life, liberty or property, without due process of law.

4. Utah Constitution, Article I, Section 10:

In capital cases the right of trial by jury shall remain inviolate. In courts of general jurisdiction, except in capital cases, a jury shall consist of eight jurors. In courts of inferior jurisdiction a jury shall consist of four jurors. In criminal cases the verdict shall be unanimous. In civil cases three-fourths of the jurors may find a verdict. A jury in civil cases shall be waived unless demanded.

5. United States Constitution, Amendment XIV, Section 1:

All persons born or naturalized in the United States, and subject to the jurisdiction thereof, are citizens of the United States and of the State wherein they reside. No State shall make or enforce any law which shall abridge the privileges or immunities of citizens of the United States; nor shall any State deprive any person of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law; nor deny to any person within its jurisdiction the equal protection of the laws.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of Case. Respondent Victor Price ("Price") sought and recovered from appellants Utah Power & Light Company and its employee David Zserai (collectively "Utah Power") damages for personal injuries allegedly received by Price while riding his mule Poncho.

A Utah Power Caterpillar loader had released air from its brake line, causing Poncho to run uncontrolled for eight to ten seconds with Price, then age 69, on his back.

Course of Proceedings. A jury trial was held 27-28 November 1984, followed by post-trial motions and this appeal. Price presented no expert medical testimony about the cause of his physical maladies, centered in the neck and right arm.

Disposition in Court Below. By a 6-2 margin, the jury returned a verdict against Utah Power in the amount of \$156,350 (R. 164-166). Judgment of \$140,715 with interest and costs was then entered by the court against Utah Power (R. 174-75), after a reduction of 10 percent for Price's own negligence (R. 165). Utah Power filed a motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict, or, in the alternative, motion for new trial (R. 176-77), which was denied by the court (R. 240-44). Nonetheless, in reaching his decision on this motion, the judge stated that the question of causation had given him some problem because of the lack of direct expert testimony (R. 242).

Statement of Facts. Price claims to have been injured on 15 September 1981 (Tr. 45-55). His claimed injuries involve pain, numbness and atrophy of his right arm from nerve impingement at the neck (Tr. 58, 60, 62, 67, 68). For a clear understanding of the need for expert medical testimony on the cause of Price's medical problems, we begin with Price's pre-incident medical problems. For a time line of this history, see Addendum.

Price is a 73-year-old (Tr. 81) farmer-rancher from Castle Dale, Utah (Tr. 45). He has been so employed for about 45 years (Tr. 45). He admits to falling off a horse two to three times in his career (Tr. 82), at least once when he landed on his rear (Tr. 83).

From documentation, we know that some of Price's horse episodes led to hospitalization. For example, he was hospitalized in Carbon Hospital 17-20 March 1968 for broken ribs and a bruised leg because "[h]e was riding a horse, herding his cows, and he fell from the horse, when the horse stumbled and fell." (Exhibit D-24, pp. 1A, 2).¹

More significantly, Price was hospitalized in Price, Utah, for nine days, 6-15 September 1977, "when a horse bucked and ran right over him producing multiple injuries with a fracture of the right ulna and with a fracture of the left ulna and radius and

¹Exhibit D-24 was offered by Utah Power and objected to by Price for lack of relevancy and materiality. It was admitted (Tr. 179A-181P).

also laceration of the scalp and multiple injuries." (Exhibit D-23, pp. 1-2).² Price's wife reported to the emergency room personnel that Price had been kicked by a horse in the head (Id. p. 43). To the nurses, he complained of back pain (Id. pp. 22, 24), headaches (Id. pp. 23, 29), a stiff neck (Id. p. 26; Tr. 193-94), "much soreness in back and neck," (Tr. 190; Exhibit D-23, pp. 26, 29), and a "funny feeling" in the neck (Exhibit D-23, p. 29), among other things. During his stay, his lacerated frontal skull was sutured (Id. p. 23). A radiologist noted that for the spine "[t]he usual aging changes are shown. At the lumbo-sacral junction there is fairly advanced degenerative disc disease" (Id. p. 40).

When asked about this event on cross examination, his initial response was, "I don't know who could have dreamed up such a -- I'm sure I didn't say it." (Tr. 86) Price could not remember being in the hospital for nine days during 1977 for this horse accident (Tr. 87). On redirect, notwithstanding the hospital chart, he explained that a horse had bumped into a gate (Tr. 98), that he had had a cast on his left arm (Tr. 99), that he had had no stitches in his head (Tr. 99) and that he had stayed at the hospital "overnight or two nights, maybe." (Tr. 99).

²Other entries in this hospital chart suggest that the right ulna might not have been fractured.

Several months later, Price's condition brought him to see a Price, Utah, chiropractor, M. K. Thayne (Tr. 206). On 16 January 1978 (the date of the first office visit), Thayne examined Price, took x-rays, conducted movement and strength tests, and began a regimen of spinal manipulation (Tr. 207-14).

Specifically, Dr. Thayne found shoulder and neck pain and a 60-percent limitation in neck movement (Tr. 207, 209). Price told Thayne that these symptoms were caused by the horse accident of 6 September 1977 (Tr. 207). By test, Price had only 7-8 pounds of strength in his left hand and 30-35 pounds in the right, compared with a normal value of 60-100 pounds (Tr. 210). Thayne also conducted a compression test where he put pressure on and squeezed the vertebrae together. Tenderness at the neck vertebrae revealed irritated nerve roots between C4 and C7 (Tr. 214).

Based upon history, examination, and testing, Dr. Thayne diagnosed traumatic cervical thoracic sprain, severe, with brachial neurology³ bilaterally (Tr. 211). Dr. Thayne believed that Price's problems were in the spine of the neck and upper back, that the nerves running from the neck to the arms were inflamed and that Price "wasn't getting adequate nerve supply down to the muscles and the hand, or they would have been able to have a greater amount of strength." (Tr. 212-13).

³The court reporter typed "neurology" when the correct word was probably "neuropathy."

Dr. Thayne's chiropractic treatment of Price started 16 January 1978 and ended 8 May 1978 after 26 visits (Tr. 214). At trial, Price initially denied having been treated by any chiropractor other than a Dr. Sanders (Tr. 85).

Ronald B. Sanders is another chiropractic physician. He opened the Castle Chiropractic Center in Castle Dale in June of 1978 (Tr. 147). He first saw Price on 11 July 1978 (Tr. 154) when Price complained on his written health history of an aggravation of the severe 1977 horse accident (Tr. 159-60):

Neck, shoulder and head area - base of skull is painful - can't turn head well (Injured 6 of Sept 1977 -) Reinjured on July 7, 1978 while drive [illegible] hit a ditch reaggravating injury of Sept 1977. (Exhibit D-18, p. 1; Tr. 87-88)

He also related to Dr. Sanders that he had suffered from backaches and arthritis and that the September 1977 accident occurred when he was "fell on by a horse" (Exhibit D-18, p. 2). Price also complained of numbness in the chin area (Exhibit D-21).⁴

Reed Tuft, a general contractor from Sandy, Utah, provided some details on the July 1978 reinjury (Tr. 195). In the process of building sewage lagoons for Castle Dale, Tuft set up a rock crusher on Price's farm (Tr. 195). Because of excess irrigation water in the area, Tuft dug a drain ditch near the crusher (Tr. 196). Price had made a claim for medical expenses against Tuft,

⁴Exhibit D-21 was offered by Utah Power and objected to by Price for lack of relevancy. It was admitted (Tr. 172).

supported by a letter from Dr. Sanders, stating that he had hit the ditch in his pickup and hurt his neck (Tr. 196-98, 171; Exhibit D-21⁵). At trial, Price denied making such a claim (Tr. 88-89).

Dr. Sanders conducted a cervical motions study to quantify head and neck movements. His findings of substantial restrictions are summarized below.

<u>Movement</u>	<u>Amount Price Could Do</u>	<u>Normal</u>
Flexion (head down)	20°	60°
Extension (head back)	10°	50°
Head Turn		
Left	30°	80°
Right	30°	80°
Lateral Flexion (head tilt)		
Left	0°	40°
Right	5°	40°

(Tr. 158-59)

A few days later, Price brought Sanders the x-rays taken by Thayne (Tr. 89, 161). Based upon his review of Price's case, Dr. Sanders concluded that Price had traumatic (caused by accident) cervical (neck) torticollis (severe tightening of neck muscles which limits movement) (Tr. 162-63).

Sanders treated Price by manipulating the spine and administering electrical therapy to relax the muscles (Tr. 163).

⁵Exhibit D-21 was offered by Utah Power and objected to by Price for lack of relevancy. It was admitted (Tr. 172).

Price visited Sanders regularly through September 1978, and on 2 October 1978 Price reported that he had again injured his neck on 29 September 1978 (Tr. 89, 163-64). After some additional treatments in October and December of 1978, Dr. Sanders did not see Price until June 1979, when Price received seven treatments to the neck area (Tr. 164-65).

Dr. Sanders next saw Price on 26 September 1979, when Price reported that on 25 September 1979 he had fallen out of his pickup truck (Tr. 165-66). Sanders diagnosed traumatic thoracic pain associated with rib involvement (Tr. 166).

Between the end of 1979 and 1981, there was a hiatus in treatment by Dr. Sanders (Tr. 166-67). Sanders made it clear that Price's problems from the beginning of treatment in 1978 had a "nerve involvement" (Tr. 176).

From 7-25 January 1981, Price was hospitalized for prostate surgery (Exhibit D-25).⁶ Dr. Demman reported in the history section of the chart that Price had had a spinal injury (Exhibit D-25, p. 3), and Dr. Snihurwych noted that some of Price's urinary symptoms related back to "when a horse fell on him" (Exhibit D-25, p. 5).

The timing of Price's return to chiropractic care later in 1981 is significant. Nearly a month before the mule incident, on 20 August 1981, Price returned to Dr. Sanders, who adjusted

⁶Exhibit D-25 was offered by Utah Power and objected to by Price for lack of relevancy. It was admitted (Tr. 181-83).

Price's cervical (neck) spine and performed neck traction, which amounted to putting a towel underneath the skull and lifting up the skull to "kind of pull and stretch the neck" (Tr. 167). Price returned again on 27 August when the same treatment was rendered (Tr. 167-68).

On 3 September 1981 (12 days before the mule incident), Price returned for neck traction and manipulation. Also, for the first time, Sanders adjusted the left hip because of a complaint there (Tr. 168). Again, on 9 September (6 days before the mule incident), Price received neck traction and manipulation and a hip adjustment (Tr. 168).

The mule incident occurred on 15 September 1981.

All of this pre-incident medical history was revealed about a man who claimed to have had a strong neck and shoulders before the incident (Tr. 83), who said he had never had pain in the back of his neck (Tr. 83-84), who said he had never had a sudden movement causing his body pain (Tr. 84), and who said that he had never seen a chiropractor, other than Dr. Sanders (Tr. 85-86).

How the mule incident happened depends on which participant can be believed. The reason for Caterpillar driver Zserai being on the road at the point where the incident occurred was a major discrepancy. Zserai said that as he was heading for a gravel pit from the Hunter Power Plant, Price waved him up the road to move a horse trailer that blocked Price's gate. Zserai contended that he moved the horse trailer first (Tr. 124-33; Exhibit D-16).

Price argued that Zserai was lost and that there was no horse trailer (Tr. 53, 92-93). For purposes of this appeal, we will concentrate on those facts relevant to the issues on appeal on which there is no dispute. If there is a dispute, Price's version will be used.

The road where Zserai was driving the loader was a county road used by the public (Tr. 69). From time to time, equipment would use the road (Tr. 70). Price had a fenced pasture adjacent to this road with a gate at one corner of the pasture next to the road (Tr. 64, 52-53). On 15 September 1981, Price had gathered some cattle at that gate with the intention of taking them through the gate (Tr. 52-53). Price was on his mule Poncho when Zserai approached on the loader (Tr. 52-53). Price claims that when Zserai stopped the loader, he kept the loader engine revved up full (Tr. 53, 74). Price said Zserai asked him where the gravel pit was, but because of the very loud noise of the engine, Price could not communicate with Zserai (Tr. 53, 74). Consequently, Price brought Poncho closer and closer to the revved-up loader, until he was within four feet of the loader (Tr. 53-54, 74). He came so close that he could touch the fence between Poncho and the loader (Tr. 74). Poncho remained unperturbed, despite the extremely loud noise of the engine that made it impossible for Price and Zserai to communicate only four feet apart:

Q: And Poncho still at that point wasn't frightened or scared or showing any signs of being upset?

A: No. None at all.

Q: He was just as calm as he could be at that point?

A: He was, yes.

Q: And you were within four feet then of the caterpillar and you were still trying to yell to Mr. Zserai?

A: Yes.

Q: And you still don't think he could hear you?

A: I don't think he could hear me.

Q: It was that noisy?

A: Yes (Tr. 75).

Zserai was watching Price bring Poncho next to the loader, according to Price:

A: Well, I kept siding this mule right over to right along side this machine. All there was between us was a fence, a barbed wire fence and apparently he could see -- the operator could see that I couldn't hear him (Tr. 54).

Zserai noticed that that mule was calm:

Q: Before you released the air, when you set your emergency brake in talking to Mr. Price, did you notice whether or not this mule was acting in any way unusual: skittish?

A: No. It wasn't at all in the least bit skittish (Tr. 135).

Poncho had never been bothered by equipment (such as Caterpillars and tractors) that he had been around from time to time (Tr. 70-73).

Zserai then set his emergency brake to talk to Price (Tr. 133-34). Some air was released and a hissing noise was made (Tr. 54, 134). Although the noise was loud, it was not nearly as loud as a semi truck when it releases pressurized air (Tr. 135).

At the moment the air was released Poncho turned and ran out into the pasture (Tr. 54). The cattle did not flinch, bolt or run (Tr. 136-37).

Poncho ran only 8-10 seconds until Price was able to bring him under control (Tr. 75-76). Poncho did not buck, and Price was not getting bounced off the saddle (Tr. 76, 143). Price did not fall off Poncho, did not hit his elbow, and did not hit his head (Tr. 76-77). Price pulled Poncho around in a circle and brought him back close to where the loader was (Tr. 54, 136).

Despite Price's history of neck and arm nerve problems, Price presented no expert medical testimony connecting the mule incident with any of his subsequent problems. Dr. Sanders related that on 16 September 1981, the day after the mule incident, Price returned to him, complaining of pain in the neck and hip. Price told Sanders that a mule had bolted and jarred him (Tr. 168-69), but Sanders had no opinion as to the cause of the atrophy of the right hand muscle that he noticed in December (Tr. 175-76).

Price testified that when he saw Sanders, he complained of a sore hip and neck and numbness in the chin and hands (Tr. 56-57). He said Dr. Demman gave him a pain pill (Tr. 57). A neurologist then examined him and put him on therapy beginning mid-November (2 months after mule incident) and ending January 1982 (Tr. 57-59). Before this therapy, Price said he suffered from

weakness and seemed like dislocation in the hip and in my neck. And numbness in my hand and my chin and face (Tr. 60).

Dr. Gaufin performed surgery on him at Utah Valley Hospital on 6 February 1982, nearly five months after the mule incident (Tr. 59).

Letters between Dr. Gaufin, the surgeon, and Dr. Demman in Price, Utah (Exhibit 4 -- admitted by stipulation) discussed generally Price's good recovery from surgery and his positive prognosis. These letters also contained a report of the surgery and a copy of the hospital discharge summary.

At the hospital, a myelogram revealed a large extradural defect at C5-6 right (neck), a mild defect at C6-7, and "an osteophyte formation was present at other levels but lesser degree." (Exhibit 4, p. 7). X-rays showed degenerative joint disease at the right elbow (Exhibit 4, p. 7), with arthritic changes and deformity consistent with old trauma (Exhibit 4, p. 11). During the surgery that followed on 6 February 1982, Dr. Gaufin removed an anterior cervical disc, decompressed the nerve root in that area and fused together vertebrae C5 and C6. He

also did external neurolysis on the ulnar nerve at the right elbow (Exhibit 4, p. 7).

Dr. Gaufin's diagnosis was:

- (1) acute and chronic cervical radiculopathy C5-6, right;
- (2) ulnar neuropathy with entrapment right elbow; and
- (3) degenerative arthritis. (Exhibit 4, p. 8).

The only discussion of causation comes in Gaufin's letter of 22 February 1982 (Exhibit 4, p. 6) that ties the numbness in the right hand to an entrapment of the ulnar nerve at the elbow and ties the atrophy of the bicep and tricep muscles of the right arm to nerve root entrapment at C5-6 and 6-7. Nowhere in these records does Dr. Gaufin attempt to identify with reasonable medical certainty the cause of the entrapments of the nerves at the elbow or in the neck. In fact, his hospital records suggest chronic, degenerative causes. Price did not call Dr. Gaufin to testify about the cause of Price's problems.

Next, we turn to the conduct of the trial, specifically, voir dire of the jury. In this case, the voir dire was conducted by the judge, with additional questions proposed by counsel for Utah Power.

The jury panel started with 25 people, 14 of which were needed to give each party three peremptory challenges to reach an

8-person jury.⁷ After the judge had asked some questions, counsel for Utah Power suggested several, including one on bad dealings or experiences panel members may have had with Utah Power. The judge asked:

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