2002

Victor Price v. Utah Power and Light Company, a Utah corporation, and David Zserai : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The issues raised by Appellant on appeal were not timely raised before the trial court, therefore, this court is precluded from hearing the appeal.

There was, as the trial court found, sufficient evidence of causation to support the jury verdict in favor of Plaintiff.

There was no error in the trial court's denial of Defendants request that voir dire include an additional query regarding prejudice against Defendant and, if there was error, it was harmless.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

WHETHER THIS COURT ON APPEAL IS PRECLUDED FROM HEARING ISSUES RAISED FOR THE FIRST TIME IN A POST JUDGMENT MOTION.

Appellant requested the jury, anticipated bias, made no motion for change of venue, did not object to the courts' denial of its request to voir dire the jury regarding bias as a result of lay offs at Emery Mining, and challenged no individual juror for cause. It is obvious that any possible jury bias was known to Appellant upon conclusion of voir dire.

Appellant passed the jury for cause.

Appellant did not raise the issue of insufficiency of the evidence with regard to causation at any time during the trial. Appellants' Motion for Directed Verdict rested solely on the issue of negligence; the only issue of law reserved for later determination. (URCP 50, Addendum 9). It is obvious that the issue of insufficiency of evidence, if any, would have been apparent to Appellant at the close of Plaintiff's case. It was not raised.

In post judgment proceedings, Appellant raised the issues of jury bias and sufficiency of the evidence regarding causation for the first time; in its Motion for New Trial.

This court has held in Barson v. E. R. Squibb & Sons, Inc., 682 P2d 832 (Utah 1984):

In order to preserve a contention of error on appeal, the party claiming error in admission of evidence must raise the objection to the trial court in clear and concise terms and in a timely fashion calculated to obtain a ruling thereon. Where there was no clear and definite objection on the basis of hearsay, that theory cannot now be raised on appeal. Squibb did raise a hearsay objection after judgment was entered in the case. However, issues raised for the first time in post-judgment motions are raised too late to be review on appeal. Therefore, we are precluded from addressing this assertion of error on the merits. at 837, citing.

Barson deals with timely objection to admissibility of

1. U.R.E. 4; Cook Assocs. Inc. v. Warnick, Utah, 664 P2d 1161 (1983). State v. Malmrose, Utah 649 P2d 56 (1982). Franklin Financial v. New Empire Dev. Co., 659 P2d 1040 (Utah 1983).

evidence.

The Supreme Court of Arizona, in a case like the case at bar wherein a Motion for New Trial on the grounds of insufficiency of the evidence was made after a jury verdict, finding that the issue in question involved a Constitutional right, (eminent domain) the court agreed to hear the matter, but said:

It is the general law that:

"... a question or objection may not be raised for the first time on a motion for new trial, and a party may not speculate on the verdict by failing to raise a matter as to which he has knowledge and then raise it for the first time on a motion for a new trial." 66 C.J.S. New §13b, p.104.

In our own state, we have the following pronouncement from our Supreme Court:

"Parties may not sit by and allow error which is not fundamental, to be committed without protesting and asking the trial court to correct the error at the time, and then later, when the judgment goes against them, ask for a new trial on that ground." (Emphasis Added). Southern Arizona Freight Lines v. Jackson, 48 Ariz. 590, 518, 63 P2d 193, 197 (1936).²

In the case of Agranoff v. Morton, 340 P2d 811 (1959), a case involving failure to take exception to jury instruction, the Washington Court said:

It is the duty of counsel for all parties to promptly call the court's attention to any error in the trial. Counsel may not secretly nurture an error, speculate upon a favorable verdict, and then, in the event it

2. Deer Valley Industrial Park Dev. & L. Co. v. State, Ariz. 5, Ariz. App. 150, 424 P2d 192, (1967).

is adverse, bring forth the error as a life preserver on a motion for a new trial.

The supreme court of Pennsylvania recently held:

"... The rule has been stated over and over again that a party may not remain silent and take his chance on a verdict and then, if it is adverse, complain of some inadequacy which could have been quite easily corrected. See Susser v. Wiley, 1944, 350 Pa. 427, 39 A.2d 616; Rastmus v. Pennsylvania R. Co., 1949, 164 Pa. Super. 635, 639, 640, 67 A.2d 660; Stadham Co. v. Century Indemnity Co., 1950, 167 Pa. Super. 268, 275, 74 A.2d 511..." Bodine v. Boyd, 383 Pa. 525 119 A.2d 54, 276.

This specific problem was dealt with in Weinrob v. Heintz, 346 Ill. App. 30, 41, 104 N.E. 2d 534, 539, as follows:

"...An objection to the submission of the issue of fact to the jury must be made before the case is given to the jury. After the case has been submitted to the jury and a verdict has been returned it is too late to make or for the court to rule on the objection. Such objection, made for the first time on a motion for a new trial, is of no avail. A party is not permitted to lie by and speculate on his chances for a verdict and then raise objections which should have been raised during the trial. Goldschmidt v. Chicago Transit Authority, 335 Ill. App. 461, 467, 82 N.E.2d 357."

Respondent's counsel made no request for a direction on the issue of liability. Had such a request been seasonably made, it would have been granted without objection. Had it been denied, respondent would have been in a position to urge it upon a motion for a new trial and, if necessary, then upon appeal. But he may not remain silent when

it is time to speak, and then urge
it for the first time on a motion
for a new trial.

The issues raised on this appeal were or should have been apparent to Appellant at least by mid-trial. They were not raised in motion for directed verdict. Appellant chose to await the jury verdict, which did not weigh in his favor, before raising the issues by way of Motion for New Trial, the same issues now raised on appeal.

Respondent raised the issue of untimeliness at hearing on February 13, 1983 on Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict and Motion for New Trial. (Trial Record). The issues raised by Appellant were untimely raised before the trial court and preclude consideration by this court.

POINT II

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION BY IT'S DENIAL OF MOTION FOR NEW TRIAL WHICH WAS BASED ON GROUNDS OF INSUFFICIENCY OF EVIDENCE OF CAUSATION TO ESTABLISH A PRIMA FACIE CASE.

This court repeatedly held that the trial court has extensive discretion when granting or denying a new trial on the grounds of sufficiency of the evidence.

The established standard for appellate review provided:

...This court cannot substitute its discretion for that of the trial court, and this court will not interfere with such rulings, unless the abuse of, or failure to exercise, discretion on the part of the trial judge is clearly shown. If, upon examination of the evidence as disclosed by the record, it is apparent that there is a substantial conflict of evidence as to material issues of fact in the case relative to which the insufficiency is alleged, this court must hold as a matter of law that no abuse of discretion is shown.

... If the evidence, taken as a whole, be reasonably susceptible of opposite conclusions as to the existence or nonexistence of an ultimate fact depending upon inferences to be drawn therefrom, or the weight to be given to the testimony of this or that witness, or set of witnesses, we must conclusively presume the fact to be such as will support the ruling which we are called upon to review; but if, after giving due consideration to the fact that the trial judge is better able to weigh conflicting evidence, the evidence be such nevertheless as to impel but one reasonable conclusion, and that as to a fact adverse to the ruling, it would be our duty as an

appellate court to so declare,
notwithstanding there might be
some conflict in the evidence.
[Citations Omitted].³

This rule was further refined by this court in the
case of Nelson v. Trujillo, 647 P2d 730 (Utah 1982) as
follows:

Where the trial court has denied the
motion for a new trial, its decision will
be sustained on appeal if there was "an
evidentiary basis for the jury's decision
..." The trial court's denial of a
motion for a new trial will be reversed
only if "the evidence to support the
verdict was completely lacking or was
so slight and unconvincing as to make
the verdict plainly unreasonable and
unjust." McCloud v. Baum, Utah, 569 P2d
1125, 1127 (1977); Pollesche v. Transamerican
Insurance Company, 27 Utah 2d 430, 497
P2d 236 (1972).

The trial court in its Memorandum Decision (Addendum
8, p.3) citing Lindsay v. Gibbons & Reed, 27 Ut.2d 419,
497 P2d 28 (19__), found:

...[T]he court feels that there was
sufficient evidence presented from
which reasonable minds could conclude
that there is a greater probability that
the conduct relied upon was a proximate cause
of Plaintiff's resulting injuries.

When, at trial, there exists a jury question with regard

3. Pollesche v. Transamerican Insurance Company, 27 Utah 2d 430,
497 P2d 236 (1972); See also, Egbert & Jaynes v. R. C. Tolman
Const., 680 P2d 746 (Utah 1984); Schmidt v. Intermountain
Health Care, Inc., 635 P2d 99, (Utah 1981), citing, Smith v.
Shreeve, Utah, 551 P2d 1261 (1976), Lee v. Howes, 548 P2d
619 (1976); Goddard v. Hickman, 685 P2d 530 (Utah 1984),
citing Chournos v. D'Agnillo, 642 P2d 710 (Utah 1982) and
Lembach v. Cox, 639 P2d 197 (Utah 1981); Smith v. Vivcich,
8UAR5, (Utah 1985), citing Bundy v. Century Equipment Company
slip.op. 18270, filed November 2, 1984, McCloud v. Baum, 569
P2d 1125 (Utah 1977).

to an ultimate fact in issue it is not error for the trial court to deny a Motion for a New Trial based on a claim of insufficiency of the evidence.⁴

The trial court below found there was sufficient evidence to support the jury's verdict.

In this case as in Robinson v. Hreinson, 17 Utah 2d 261, 409 P2d 121 (Utah 1965):

The parties have had what they were entitled to: a full and fair opportunity to present their contentions and the evidence supporting them to the court and jury. When this has been done all presumptions are in favor of the validity of the verdict and judgment. at 125.

The trial court in its Memorandum Decision outlined the evidence presented at trial which the court found supportive of that decision. (Addendum 8, p.3,4).

Rule 701 of the Utah Rules of Evidence provides that lay testimony is admissible if the layman's inferences or opinions are rationally based on the perception of the witness and are helpful to a clear understanding of his testimony or to a determination of the fact in issue. (Addendum 10). Rule 702, Utah Rules of Evidence provides that experts may testify but does not provide for any situation in which such testimony is mandatory. (Addendum 10).

In Roods v. Roods, 645 P2d 640 (Utah 1982), the Utah Supreme court held that lay opinion regarding the human

4. Moore v. James, 5 Utah 2d 91, 297 P2d 221 (Utah 1956).

gestation period was proper even though expert testimony would be admissible with respect to the issue.

In the case at bar, Plaintiff also was in a position to observe and perceive his injuries; when and how they occurred. Plaintiff testified at trial that the accident on September 15, 1981 caused his mule to bolt. Mr. Price testified that, attempting to turn the mule and thus stop him, he twisted his body and exerted a tremendous amount of force. He pulled on the reins with his left hand and pushed on the saddle with his right hand so forcefully that at the end of the ordeal the bit in the mule's mouth was bent. Plaintiff observed, and testified, that subsequent to this accident he experienced severe pain and numbness in his arm, his muscles shriveled and he lost the use of his right hand. None of these symptoms were apparent, diagnosed or treated prior to the accident.

In A. E. Egede Nissen v. Crystal Mountain, Inc., 93 Wash. 2d 127, 606 P2d 1214 (1980), the Washington court found no abuse of discretion in the trial court's allowing Plaintiff to testify concerning the causal relation between injuries suffered in an accident and back problems suffered during a subsequent pregnancy. It said:

In direct examination, plaintiff was asked if, during pregnancy, she had problems resulting from the ski lift accident. Arguably, the challenged question called for a medical conclusion by a law witness. Plaintiff should not be foreclosed, however, from

comparing the pregnancy and birth of her first child, prior to the accident, with the pregnancy and birth of her second child, subsequent thereto. Under properly formulated questions, plaintiff is qualified to explain differences in pain or discomfort in the two births. at 1221.

In this case, Mr. Price was likewise qualified to explain the differences in his condition before and after his injury.

Appellant, in the case at bar, made no objection to Mr. Price's testimony. In the case of Barnett v. Richardson, 415 P2d 987 (Okla. 1966) the court held that where an injury is patent, objective rather than subjective, the Plaintiff is competent to testify as to the injury, the treatment received therefore, and the reaction of such treatment and that the testimony is sufficient for the jury to render a verdict and that no expert medical testimony is necessary. The time of Mr. Price's injury, the onset of his pain and discomfort, his shriveled arm and the loss of use of that arm, were patent and objective indices of injury.

In Marsh v. Irvine, 22 Utah2d 154, 449 P2d 996 (1969), a personal injury action resulting from an automobile collision, the court held that the trial judge should be allowed reasonable latitude of discretion both as to the necessity for expert testimony and as to the qualification of the witness to give it.

Plaintiffs' testimony and records of his medical history revealed that although Mr. Price was extensively examined by medical doctors there was no prior medical diagnosis of the type of injury from which he suffered after the incident of September 15, 1985. This evidence was sufficient to allow the jury to infer that the accident in question was the cause of the injuries Plaintiff suffered.

It is proper to establish causation through circumstantial evidence.⁵ When a jury can draw correct inferences from the facts, expert opinion is not necessary.⁶

At trial Plaintiff introduced evidence from which a jury could find causation. Defendant, on the other hand, attempted to prove a pre-existing injury from which the jury could infer the absence of causation.

The fact that the Defendants introduced the testimony of chiropractors regarding pre-existing injury and Plaintiff's evidence consisted of his own testimony augmented by documentary evidence does not require that the jury attribute more weight to the chiropractors' testimony.

In Dixon v. Stewart, 658 P2d 591 (1982), the court held that:

[N]o matter how arcane the subject matter or how erudite the witness, the jury is not required to accept the experts' testimony as conclusive. The jurors may give such testimony any weight they choose, including no weight at all. p.597.

5. Lindsay v. Gibbons & Reed, supra: at p.

6. Daz v. Lorenzo Smith & Son, Inc., 17 Utah2d 221, 408 P2d 186 (1965).

The court in Hurler v. The Industrial Commission, 13 Ariz. App. 66, 474 P2d 73 (1970) held that if the medical opinion conflicts with the inescapable legal conclusion gleaned from the facts, the former must give way to the latter. Medical testimony is not, therefore, conclusive. Given this fact and given the fact that lay testimony is sufficient in the instant case to enable the jury to find causation, medical testimony is not required.

Unless the doctor is a witness to an accident he must rely on his patient's statement of history to determine causation. Medical reports in evidence refer to Mr. Price's accident. (See Gaufin letter of May 10, 1982. (Plaintiff Exhibit 4, Addendum 11).

No reports admitted indicated any question that the incident of September 15, 1981 resulted in the injury for which they treated Plaintiff. This letter was introduced into evidence, by stipulation. Defendant neither disputed nor rebutted it's contents.

Plaintiff produced sufficient evidence to warrant taking the issue of causation to the jury. The testimony of Doctors Thayn and Sanders support Plaintiffs' testimony and the medical evidence which was before the jury. The terms used by the doctors meets the standard established by this court;

The general rule regarding the certainty of an expert's opinion is that of the expert may not give an opinion which represents

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